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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
CONNIE FISHBAUGH, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
BREVARD COUNTY SHERIFF'S 
DEPARTMENT, 
 
 Respondent. 
                                

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 03-1139 

   
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
This cause came before Daniel M. Kilbride, Administrative 

Law Judge, Division of Administrative Hearings, in Tallahassee, 

Florida.  In lieu of a formal hearing, the parties agreed to 

submit stipulated facts, expert deposition testimony, and 

proposed recommended orders with supporting briefs. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Karen M. Doering, Esquire 
                      National Center for Lesbian Rights 
                      3708 West Swann Avenue 
                      Tampa, Florida  33609-4452 

 
For Respondent:  Linda G. Bond, Esquire 

                      Allen, Norton & Blue, P.A. 
                      1669 Mahan Center Boulevard 
                      Tallahassee, Florida  32308 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1.  Whether transsexualism is a disability that is 

protected by the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (FCRA), 

Chapter 760, Florida Statutes. 

2.  Whether an allegation of discrimination based on 

transsexualism is sex discrimination, pursuant to the FCRA. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) on July 5, 2002, 

charging Respondent with wrongful termination based on 

disability discrimination because she was a transsexual.  On or 

about October 16, 2002, Petitioner amended her discrimination 

charge to include discrimination based on sex, principally 

founded on her status as a transsexual.  Respondent replied that 

FCHR lacked jurisdiction to investigate the claim because 

transsexualism was not a disability pursuant to either the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) or the FCRA and that 

Respondent had a legitimate non-discriminatory business reason 

for the termination.  Respondent replied similarly to the 

allegations of sex discrimination.  On February 21, 2003, FCHR 

issued a no jurisdiction determination on both the disability 

and the sex discrimination allegations.  Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Relief on March 28, 2003.  The matter was 

transferred to the Division of Administrative Hearings on  
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March 28, 2003, for formal hearing de novo on the issue of 

jurisdiction.  A final hearing was scheduled for June 17, 2003.  

Following a granting of Respondent's request for continuance, 

the hearing was scheduled for July 30 and 31, 2003.  On June 24, 

2003, Petitioner filed an unopposed motion to set a briefing 

schedule, oral argument, and to request a continuance of the 

final hearing.   After a telephonic hearing, the matter was 

placed in abeyance on the need for a final hearing.  A briefing 

schedule was established on the issues of whether transsexualism 

is a disability covered by the FCRA and whether transsexuals are 

a protected class covered against sex discrimination. 

The parties filed stipulated facts, after which Petitioner 

filed the affidavits of two experts who offered opinions on 

transsexualism.  Respondent also filed the deposition transcript 

of Dr. Pamela Hill-Epps, one of Petitioner's experts, who is a 

Florida-licensed psychologist and who specializes in the 

treatment of persons with sexual disorders.  Following motions 

for extension of time to file their proposals and briefs, 

Petitioner and Respondent filed their proposals on October 8 and 

7, 2003, respectively.  Each party's proposal has been given 

careful consideration in the preparation of this Recommended 

Order. 

 

 



 

 4

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Respondent is an employer as defined by the FCRA. 

2.  Petitioner, Connie Fishbaugh, is a transsexual woman 

who has been diagnosed with Gender Identity Disorder (GID), also 

known as transsexualism. 

3.  Transsexualism is a recognized mental health disorder 

that causes a desire to live and be accepted as a member of the 

opposite sex.  It is usually accompanied by the wish for one's 

body to be congruent with the preferred sex.  When left 

untreated, persons diagnosed with transsexualism display 

symptoms of severe anxiety, severe depression, and dysfunction.  

GID is recognized as a medical condition in the Diagnostic and 

Statistical Manual of Mental Disabilities (4th ed.) and the 

International Classification of Disease (World Health 

Organization 10th ed.). 

4.  Gender identity, which is established at an early age, 

is an individual's internal psychological identification as male 

or female.  A transsexual person is someone whose gender 

identity is in conflict with the person's anatomical sex at 

birth.  This conflict creates emotional pain and suffering. 

5.  A person's gender identity cannot be changed through 

psychotherapy or through any other known treatment.  Based on 

contemporary medical knowledge and practice, sex-reassignment is 

the only effective, medically prescribed treatment for this 
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condition.  The medical process of sex reassignment takes place 

over several years and requires life-long medical treatment and 

monitoring.  Sex reassignment relieves the distress caused by 

GID for the great majority of transsexual people.  Nonetheless, 

sex reassignment is not a cure.  A person who undergoes sex-

reassignment continues to carry a diagnosis and requires 

lifelong medical monitoring and treatment. 

6.  Prior to undergoing sex-reassignment, Petitioner 

experienced sever anxiety, depression, and distress based on her 

lifelong gender dysphoria.  As the years progressed, 

Petitioner's depression, anxiety, and distress about her gender 

dysphoria became more acute.  Although, during this period, 

Petitioner fathered three children. 

7.  Petitioner took part in the Harry Benjamin Standards of 

Care, the accepted medical protocol for the diagnosis and 

treatment of transsexual persons.  As part of this protocol, 

Petitioner's treatment included:  psychological evaluations, 

during which time she was diagnosed with GID; completion of the 

"real life experience," which required her to live full-time as 

a female; administration of hormone therapy to create desired 

secondary sex characteristics; and sex-reassignment surgery.  

Petitioner completed sex-reassignment surgery in July 1995.  

Sex-reassignment surgery is an accepted treatment for 

transsexualism. 
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8.  Petitioner completed psychiatric and psychological 

treatment following surgery.  She has been undergoing hormone 

therapy as part of her treatment regime since approximately 

1992.  Although Petitioner completed sex-reassignment surgery 

and is now considered medically female, she must continue to 

undergo hormone treatments and medical monitoring for the rest 

of her life.  Also as a result of the irreversible medical 

treatment she received, Petitioner is unable to bear or produce 

children. 

9.  Several years after completing sex-reassignment, 

Petitioner applied for a position with the Brevard County 

Sheriff's Office in the spring of 2001.  Petitioner notified the 

Sheriff's Office of her transgender status before she applied 

for the position.  Petitioner successfully completed 

Respondent's required pre-employment medical and psychological 

testing prior to her hire.  She did not have any restrictions or 

request any accommodations on her ability to perform the 

essential functions of her position.  She was hired as a deputy 

sheriff in May 2001 and was terminated on January 27, 2002. 

10.  On July 5, 2002, Petitioner filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the FCHR alleging employment discrimination 

under the applicable state and federal law.  Following the 

Determination: No Jurisdiction, Petitioner is pursuing her 
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disability claim only under state law and her sex discrimination 

claim under both state and federal law. 

11.  In her Charge of Discrimination, Petitioner alleges 

that she was harassed based on her transsexuality.  When she 

reported this harassment, Petitioner alleges that Respondent did 

not take steps to respond to the harassment.  Rather, the 

Inspector stated that she "should have known that it would be 

hard" and that "because of [her] situation, no one wanted to 

hire [her]."  It is alleged that no steps were ever taken by 

Respondent to respond to the complaints of harassment.  

Eventually, Petitioner was terminated based on allegations of 

insubordination. 

12.  On February 21, 2003, FCHR issued a determination 

letter stating that it lacked jurisdiction to consider 

Petitioner's claims of discrimination on the basis of handicap 

or on the basis of sex. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

13.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and the 

parties thereto, pursuant to Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 

760.11(7), Florida Statutes. 

14.  Petitioner contends that she was unlawfully discharged 

by Respondent because it discriminated against her due to her 

handicap and also on the basis of her sex.  Petitioner relies on 
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the FCRA.  The FCRA prohibits certain specified unlawful 

employment practices and provides remedies for such violations. 

15.  That statute provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

760.01  PURPOSES, CONSTRUCTION; TITLE 
 

*     *     * 
 
(2)  The general purposes of the Florida 
Civil Rights Act of 1992 are to secure for 
all individuals within the State freedom 
from discrimination because of race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, age, 
handicap, or marital status and thereby to 
protect their interest in personal dignity, 
to make available to the state their full 
productive capacities, to secure the state 
against domestic strife and unrest, to 
preserve the public safety, health and 
general welfare, and to promote the 
interests, rights, and privileges of 
individuals within the state. 
 
(3)  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 
shall be construed according to the fair 
import of its terms and shall be liberally 
construed to further the general purposes 
stated in this section and the special 
purposes of the particular provisions 
involved. 
 

*     *     * 
 
760.10  Unlawful employment practices.- 
 
(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 
for an employer: 
 
(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 
hire any individual, or otherwise to 
discriminate against any individual with 
respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 
or privileges of employment, because of such 
individual's race, color, religion, sex, 
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national origin, age, handicap, or marital 
status. 
 

*     *     * 
 
(8)  Notwithstanding any other provisions of 
this section, it is not an unlawful 
employment practice under ss. 760.01-760.10 
for an employer, . . . to: 
 
(a)  Take or fail to take any action on the 
basis of . . . handicap . . . in those 
certain instances in which . . . absence of 
a particular handicap . . . is a bona fide 
occupational qualification reasonably 
necessary for the performance of the 
particular employment to which such action 
or inaction is related. 
 

16.  FCHR has adopted federal standards for allocating the 

burden of proof in handicap discrimination claims, which are 

different from a standard Title VII analysis.  To establish a 

prima facie case of handicap discrimination, Petitioner must 

prove: 

1.  That [she] is a handicapped person 
within the meaning of the Florida Civil 
Rights Act; 
 
2.  That [she] is otherwise qualified for 
the position in question; and 
 
3.  That [she] was discharged from her 
position solely by reason of her handicap. 
 

Brand v. Florida Power Corporation, 633 So. 2d 504 at 507 and 

510 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).  See also 29 U.S.C. Section 794 

(Rehabilitation Act) and the ADA.  Therefore, to determine 

whether transsexualism is a covered handicap pursuant to the 
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FCRA, the court must look to the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act 

to determine whether transsexualism is included or excluded from 

the definition of disability in those acts.  See Razner v. 

Wellington Regional Medical Center, Inc., 837 So. 2d 437 at 440 

(Fla. 4th DCA 2002). 

17.  The ADA is separated into three titles, each of which 

prohibits disability discrimination in a different context:  

Title I, 42 U.S.C. Section 12111-17, applies to discrimination 

in employment; Title II, 42 U.S.C. Section 12131-65, applies to 

discrimination in public services; and Title II, 42 U.S.C. 

Section 12181-89, applies to discrimination in public 

accommodations by private entities. 

18.  Title I of the ADA prohibits discrimination against 

qualified individuals with disabilities and defines disability 

as:  (1) a physical or mental impairment that substantially 

limits one or more major life activities of such individual; (2) 

a record of such an impairment; or (3) being regarded as having 

a disability.  42 U.S.C. Section 12102(2)(A-C).  Sutton v. 

United Airlines, 527 U.S. 471, 478, 119 S. Ct. 2139, 2144 

(1999).  Florida law is in agreement.  Fla. Amin. Code R. 60Y-

6.001(36); Brand v. Florida Power Corp., supra at 510; Razner v. 

Wellington Regional Medical Center, Inc., supra at 441; and 

Green v. Seminole Electric Cooperative, Inc., 701 So. 2d 646, 
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648 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997).  The Rehabilitation Act defines 

disability similarly.  29 U.S.C. Section 701, et seq.   

19.  In addition to the language defining actual and 

perceived disabilities, the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act 

include language that specifically excludes certain conditions 

from the definition of a disability.  Transsexualism is one such 

condition.  42 U.S.C. Section 12211(b)(1) states: 

(b)  Certain conditions 
 
Under this chapter, the term "disability" 
shall not include-- 
 
(1)  transvestism, transsexualism, 
pedophilia, exhibitionism, voyeurism, gender 
identity disorders not resulting from 
physical impairments, or other sexual 
behavior disorders. (emphasis added) 
 

20.  Prior to the specific exclusion of transsexualism from 

the Rehabilitation Act, some courts had recognized 

transsexualism as a disability.  See Doe v. United States Postal 

Service, 1985 WL 9446 (D.D.C. 1985) (allowing a male to female 

transsexual to bring a handicap disability action against the 

United States Postal Service for withdrawing an offer of 

employment after learning of her intent to undergo the sex-

reassignment surgery). 

21.  Prior to the passage of the 1992 Florida Civil Rights 

Act, FCHR considered whether Belinda Smith, a transsexual who 

had not undergone sex-reassignment at the time of the adverse 



 

 12

employment action, was terminated because of her handicap.  

Smith v. City of Jacksonville, Jacksonville Correctional 

Institute, DOAH Case 88-5451, 1991 WL 833882 (1991), FCHR Case 

No. 86-985 (1992).  In 1985, when the facts arose in Smith, she 

was a male employed as a corrections officer for the City of 

Jacksonville.  Because of transsexualism, Smith suffered from 

depression, felt intense stress and internal conflict, developed 

bleeding ulcers, drank heavily, and contemplated suicide.  The 

employer terminated her after learning that she was transsexual 

and was found wearing women's clothing in public.  Smith filed a 

charge of discrimination with FCHR following her termination 

alleging disability discrimination.  FCHR issued a no cause 

determination that Smith challenged.  Based on the specific 

facts that Smith presented at the hearing, FCHR determined that 

there was a substantial limitation on the major life functions 

of health and life and concluded that Smith was handicapped 

based on the interpretation of the Florida Human Rights Act of 

1977.  At the time of the Smith termination in 1986, the ADA had 

not become law, nor had transsexualism been excluded as a 

disability from the Rehabilitation Act. 

22.  With the knowledge that transsexualism had previously 

been recognized as a disability, Congress expressed a clear 

intent to exclude transsexualism as a disability under federal 

law.  See 29 U.S.C. Section 706(8)(F)(i).  While acknowledging 
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that the American Psychiatric Association included 

transsexualism as a diagnosis in the third and fourth editions 

of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 

(DSM-III & IV), Congress still decided to exclude transsexualism 

from the ADA.  In accepting the amendment that eventually 

excluded transsexualism, Congress considered that this narrow 

exclusion of mental conditions would not undermine the overall 

purpose and intent of the ADA, but would curtail litigation from 

some of the more egregious employment lawsuits.  101 CONG.REC. 

S11173 (daily ed. Sept. 14, 1989) (statement of Senator 

Armstrong). 

23.  Despite the fact that transsexualism is a recognized 

mental health diagnosis, the scope of the ADA does not encompass 

every physical and mental discomfort or ailment.  Toyota Motor 

Mfg., Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184, 198 (2002).  The 

ADA only protects individuals that have an impairment that falls 

within the meaning of the term "disability" as it is defined in 

the ADA and interpreted by the courts.  Toyota, 534 U.S. at 197. 

24.  Other states, whose civil and human rights acts are 

based on the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act, also reject 

transsexualism as a disability.  Holt v. Northwest Training 

Partnership Consortium, Inc., 694 A.2d 1134 (Pa. Common Ct. 

1997) (recognizing transsexualism as a medical condition but one 

not covered by state and federal law as a disability).  But see 
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Rentos v. Oce-Office Systems, 1996 WL 737215 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) 

(finding transsexualism to be a disability under New York state 

law because interpretation and analysis under state law is 

independent of the federal law analysis).  As such, any judicial 

or administrative determination relying upon the ADA and/or the 

Rehabilitation Act dictates a finding that transsexualism must 

be excluded from the definition of a disability. 

25.  Despite the finding in Smith, supra, by FCHR, which is 

limited to its facts which occurred prior to the enactment of 

the ADA and the amendments to the Rehabilitation Act, there is 

no basis for a finding that transsexualism is a disability 

pursuant to the FCRA.  Both the underlying federal law and the 

regulations that construe the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act 

specifically exclude the condition from the definition of a 

disability, and Florida follows those interpretations.  Razner, 

supra at 440. 

26.  In matters of employment discrimination based on sex, 

the FCRA is patterned after Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e-2.  Brand, supra at 507.  School 

Board of Leon County v. Weaver, 556 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1990).  In Florida, there is a long-standing rule of statutory 

construction which recognizes that if a state law is patterned 

after a federal law on the same subject, the Florida law will be 

accorded the same construction as in the federal courts to the 



 

 15

extent the construction is harmonious with the spirit and policy 

of the Florida legislation.  Brand, supra at 509; O'Loughlin v. 

Pinchback, 579 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). 

27.  In Department of Corrections v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 

1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the court analyzed the types of claims 

under the FCRA.  In that case, the court noted as follows: 

Pertinent federal case law discloses two 
means by which a discriminatory employment 
claim may be tried.  The first, . . . , by 
showing disparate treatment, and the second, 
by showing discriminatory impact.  When 
employing the former, a claimant must 
establish and employer's intentional 
discrimination, however, as to the latter, 
intentional discrimination is not required, 
and the claimant essentially challenges 
practices which are fair in form but 
discriminatory in operation . (Citations 
omitted) 
 

Id. at 1183 n.2 

28.  Petitioner in this case is seeking to establish a 

disparate treatment claim of sex discrimination.  In order for 

Petitioner to prevail in a disparate treatment case and obtain 

the relief she seeks, Petitioner must establish that 

Respondent's employment decision was based on a protected 

status, i.e., Petitioner's sex.  In this case, Petitioner has 

the burden of presenting evidence sufficient to establish that 

her sex was a determining factor in the employment decision made 

to discharge her.  See U.S. Postal Service Board of Governors v. 

Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 715 (1983).  Sex discrimination claims 
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pursuant to the FCRA, like claims under Title VII, must be 

evaluated in light of the test formulated by the United States 

Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 

93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973); and Texas Department of 

Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981).  Harris v. 

Shelby County Board of Education, 99 F.3d 1078, 1082-83 (11th 

Cir. 1996).  Under that test, the Plaintiff has the burden of 

establishing a prima facie case of discrimination.  In order to 

satisfy that burden, the Plaintiff must prove that:  (1) she was 

a member of a protected group; (2) an adverse employment action 

took place; (3) Plaintiff was similarly situated to non-

protected persons who received dissimilar treatment; and  

(4) Plaintiff was qualified for the position.  Holifield v. 

Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997); Coutu v. Martin 

County Board of County Commissioners, 47 F.3d 1068, 1073 (11th 

Cir. 1995). 

29.  Petitioner has alleged that Respondent discriminated 

against her because she is a transsexual and not because she is 

a woman.  Federal courts considering the issue of whether 

transsexualism constitutes sex discrimination pursuant to Title 

VII follow the reasoning in Ulane v. Eastern Airlines, Inc., 742 

F.2d 1081 (7th Cir. 1984) and reject transsexualism as being 

protected by Title VII and, thus, the FCRA.  Ulane explains 

that: 
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The phrase in Title VII prohibiting 
discrimination based on sex, in its plain 
meaning, implies that it is unlawful to 
discriminate against women because they are 
women and against men because they are men  
. . . a prohibition against discrimination 
based on sex is not synonymous with a 
prohibition against discrimination based on 
an individual's sexual identity disorder or 
discontent with the sex into which they were 
born.   
 

Id. at 1085. 

30.  Petitioner argues that some states have adopted more 

liberal definitions of "sex" to include sexual orientation and 

that "sex" means more than anatomical sex.  See, e.g., Rentos v. 

Oce-Office Systems, supra; Maffei v. Kolaeton Industry, Inc., 

626 N.Y.S.2d 391 (N.Y. 1995); and Enriquez v. West Jersey Health 

Systems, 777 A.2d 365 (N.J. 2001).  There is no statutory nor 

case law to suggest that Florida is one of those states that has 

recognized transsexualism as a class protected from 

discrimination.  Ulane, supra at 1085.  See Holloway v. Arthur 

Andersen & Co., 566 F.2d 659, 664 (9th Cir. 1977); Powell v. 

Read's Inc., 436 F.Supp. 369 (D. Md. 1977); Voyles v. Ralph K. 

Davies Medical Center, 403 F.Supp. 456 (N.D. Cal. 1975); Smith 

v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 569 F.2d 325, 327 (11th Cir. 1978).   

31.  Based on the foregoing, transsexualism is not a 

disability within the meaning of the FCRA and an individual's 

status as a transsexual is not covered as a protected class 

within the meaning of sex discrimination pursuant to the FCRA. 
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32.  Florida Administrative Code Rules 60Y-5004(2) and 60Y-

5005(11) authorize the Executive Director, on behalf of FCHR, to 

dismiss charges of discrimination based on the lack of 

jurisdiction over the subject matter where there are no disputed 

issues of fact.  FCHR had the authority to delegate particular 

actions to the Executive Director, including the authority to 

dismiss a complaint of discrimination based on the lack of 

subject matter jurisdiction if the investigation does not reveal 

any disputed issues of material fact.  See Florida Commission on 

Human Relations v. Parrish Management, 682 So. 2d 159, 160 (Fla. 

1st DCA 1996). 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing Petitioner's Charge of 

Discrimination with prejudice because there is no basis to 

conclude that transsexualism is included in the class of persons 

protected by the FCRA, under either handicap or sex 

discrimination. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 21st day of November, 2003, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

 

S                                  
DANIEL M. KILBRIDE 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 21st day of November, 2003. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 

YOUNCY CARTER,  ) 
    ) 
 Petitioner,  ) 
    ) 
vs.    )   Case No. 03-2662 
    ) 
MAJESTIC GARDENS CONDOMINIUM ) 
"C" CORPORATION and MAJESTIC ) 
GARDENS CONDOMINIUM  ) 
ASSOCIATION, INC.,  ) 
    ) 
 Respondents.  ) 
______________________________) 
 
 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 Robert E. Meale, Administrative Law Judge of the Division 

of Administrative Hearings, conducted the final hearing in 

Miami, Florida, on August 7, 2003. 

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Stewart Lee Karlin 
                      Stewart Lee Karlin, P.A. 
                      315 Southeast 7th Street, Second Floor 
                      Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33301 
 
 For Respondent Majestic Gardens Condominium  
                       "C" Corporation: 
 
                      Roosevelt Walters 
                      Qualified Representative 
                      1509 Northwest 4th Street 
                      Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33311 
 
 For Respondent Majestic Gardens Condominium 
                       Association, Inc.: 
 
                      No appearance 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondents are guilty of housing 

discrimination against Petitioner based on disability, in 

violation of Section 760.23, Florida Statutes (2003). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On May 29, 2002, Petitioner filed a Housing Discrimination 

Complaint with the Florida Commission on Human Relations.  The 

complaint alleges that Florida Donaldson and Majestic Gardens 

Condominium Association denied Petitioner a parking space for 

his exclusive use, due to his disability following a stroke.  On 

July 24, 2002, the Florida Commission on Human Relations entered 

a Determination of No Reasonable Cause. 

 By Petition for Relief filed August 29, 2002, Petitioner 

alleged that "Florida Donaldson/Majestic Gardens Condominium" 

discriminated against him, as a stroke victim with decreased 

mobility, by refusing to designate a parking space for his 

exclusive use, in addition to the parking space already 

designated for his wife's exclusive use. 

 After the Florida Commission on Human Relations transmitted 

the file to the Division of Administrative Hearings to conduct 

an evidentiary hearing, the parties consented to a remand to the 

Commission to allow them to identify the correct respondents.  

After doing so, the Commission retransmitted the file to the 
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Division of Administrative Hearings, pursuant to the above-

stated style. 

 At the hearing, each party called one witness.  Petitioner 

offered into evidence two exhibits:  Petitioner Exhibits 1-2.  

Respondent offered into evidence no exhibits.  By stipulation, 

the parties agreed to the admission seven photographs, which are 

designated Joint Composite Exhibit 1.  All exhibits were 

admitted. 

 The court reporter filed the transcript on October 24, 

2003.  The parties filed their Proposed Findings of Fact by the 

same date. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

     1.   Petitioner suffered a stroke in September 1997 and was 

consequently disabled.  His right side was impaired.  

Petitioner's right foot drags when he walks, and his right arm 

is of limited use.  Petitioner is unable to walk long distances 

or stand for a significant period of time.  To walk at all, 

Petitioner requires the use of a cane or a walker.  Petitioner 

has been in this condition from September 1997 through the date 

of the final hearing.  At all material times, Petitioner has 

possessed a handicapped parking sticker due to these 

disabilities. 

     2.   For many years, Petitioner's wife has lived in unit 102 

at the Majestic Gardens Condominium, Building "C," Lauderhill, 



 4

Florida.  Petitioner married his wife shortly before suffering 

the stroke and moved into her condominium unit at Majestic 

Gardens in December 1997.  Petitioner and his wife resided 

together at unit 102 until April 2001, when they rented the unit 

and moved to a house in Miramar. 

     3.   All of the buildings at Majestic Gardens Condominiums 

comprise 238 units.  Building "C" is a three-story building with 

41 units.  Each unit in Building "C" is assigned one parking 

space.  The assigned parking spaces are in close proximity to 

the entrances of the units.  Building "C" provides nine guest 

parking spaces, but the parking is limited at Majestic Gardens, 

and these spaces are routinely unavailable. 

     4.   In the case of Petitioner's unit, the assigned space is 

less than 15 feet from the front door to the ground-floor unit.  

At all material times, Petitioner's wife has parked her car in 

this space.  The two spaces to the left of Petitioner's assigned 

space, as one faces the unit, are slightly closer to 

Petitioner's unit and are designated as guest spaces. 

     5.   Both Respondents are jointly responsible for operating 

and assigning the parking spaces immediately adjacent to 

Building "C."  From 1998 through 2001, Petitioner and his wife 

tried unsuccessfully to convince Respondents to designate a 

parking space in front of their unit as handicapped, so that 

Petitioner, who can still drive, could park his car directly in 
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front of his unit.  Respondents refused to designate a 

handicapped space because the effect of such a designation would 

have been that Petitioner and his wife would have had two spaces 

in front of their unit, when all of the other unitowners had 

only one space.   

     6.   Respondents have not designated any handicapped parking 

adjacent to Building "C."  They have designated three 

handicapped spaces at a nearby clubhouse, but, after Petitioner 

started parking his car in one of these spaces, Respondent 

Majestic Gardens Condominium Association, Inc., informed 

Petitioner that these spaces were reserved for use by persons 

using the recreation facilities.  Because Petitioner was not 

using the recreation facilities, he could not park in one of 

these handicapped spaces.  Later, Respondent Majestic Gardens 

Condominium Association, Inc., painted over the blue lines and 

removed the handicapped-parking sign, thus allowing all users of 

the recreation facilities to park in the three spaces previously 

reserved for handicapped users of the recreation facilities.  At 

that point, the entire eight-building Majestic Gardens complex 

lacked any parking designated exclusively for handicapped use. 

     7.   Relations between the condominium management and 

Petitioner and his wife became strained at times.  Petitioner 

received cautionary notes and threats of towing whenever he 

parked his car in a guest space.  However, Respondents gave 
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Petitioner's wife the names of persons who might be willing to 

rent their assigned parking spaces.  Despite several efforts, 

Petitioner and his wife were unable to secure another space by 

this means. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

     8.   The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter.  § 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. 

     9.   Section 760.23, Florida Statutes (2003), provides in 

relevant part: 

(7)  It is unlawful to discriminate in the 
sale or rental of, or to otherwise make 
unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any buyer 
or renter because of a handicap of:  
   (a)  That buyer or renter;  
   (b)  A person residing in or intending to 
reside in that dwelling after it is sold, 
rented, or made available; or  
   (c)  Any person associated with the buyer 
or renter.  
 
(8)  It is unlawful to discriminate against 
any person in the terms, conditions, or 
privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, 
or in the provision of services or facilities 
in connection with such dwelling, because of 
a handicap of:  
   (a)  That buyer or renter;  
   (b)  A person residing in or intending to 
reside in that dwelling after it is sold, 
rented, or made available; or  
   (c)  Any person associated with the buyer 
or renter.  
 
(9)  For purposes of subsections (7) and (8), 
discrimination includes:  
   (a)  A refusal to permit, at the expense 
of the handicapped person, reasonable 
modifications of existing premises occupied 



 7

or to be occupied by such person if such 
modifications may be necessary to afford such 
person full enjoyment of the premises; or  
   (b)  A refusal to make reasonable 
accommodations in rules, policies, practices, 
or services, when such accommodations may be 
necessary to afford such person equal 
opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.  
 

     10. In Dornbach v. Holley, 854 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2002), the court held that the Florida Fair Housing Act, which 

includes Section 760.23, Florida Statutes, is similar to the 

federal Fair Housing Act in that a petitioner may establish 

liability in one of three ways:  intentional discriminatory 

conduct toward a handicapped person, incidental discrimination, 

or failure to make a reasonable accommodation that would allow a 

handicapped person to enjoy his or her chosen residence.  854 

So. 2d at p. 213. 

     11. As is clear from Petitioner's proposed recommended 

order, his theory of the case is that respondents failed to make 

a reasonable accommodation by assigning him a handicap-only 

parking space in close proximity to the condominium unit that he 

and his wife occupied. 

     12. A similar factual scenario existed in Sporn v. Ocean 

Colony Condominium Association, 173 F. Supp. 2d 244 (D.N.J. 

2001), where the court held that the condominium association had 

not denied the plaintiff a reasonable accommodation.  The 

condominium association offered the plaintiff an assigned space 



 8

close to his unit, but only if he deeded the space that was 

assigned to the unit by the condominium documents.  Identifying 

the plaintiff's request as a request essentially for two spaces, 

the court stated:  "[plaintiff's] request for 'reasonable 

accommodation' was really a request for accommodation coupled 

with a demand for special treatment."  Citing the discussion in 

Jankowski Lee & Associates v. Cisneros, 91 F.3d 891, 896 (7th 

Cir. 1996), the Sporn court noted that the federal Fair Housing 

Act "only creates a right to a 'reasonable accommodation'; it 

'does not create a right to an assigned handicapped space.'"  

173 F. Supp. 2d at p. 250.  The Sporn court held that the claim 

of denial of reasonable accommodation was without merit. 

     13. Likewise, Petitioner's claim that he was denied a 

reasonable accommodation is without merit.  Petitioner's unit 

had a single parking space, as did the other units in the 

complex, and Petitioner's space was extremely convenient to his 

unit.  Petitioner is essentially seeking a second space for his 

unit, but the law does not entitle him to such preferential 

treatment, relative to the other unitowners. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 It is 

 RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing the Petition for Relief. 
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 DONE AND ENTERED this 19th day of November, 2003, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

 

                           S 
                           ___________________________________ 
                           ROBERT E. MEALE 
                           Administrative Law Judge 
                           Division of Administrative Hearings 
                           The DeSoto Building 
                           1230 Apalachee Parkway 
                           Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
                           (850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
                           Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
                           www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
                           Filed with the Clerk of the 
                           Division of Administrative Hearings 
                           this 19th day of November, 2003. 
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2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
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Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Stewart Lee Karlin 
Stewart Lee Karlin, P.A. 
315 Southeast 7th Street, Second Floor 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33301 
 
Roosevelt Walters 
Qualified Representative 
1509 Northwest 4th Street 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33311 
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Florida Donaldson 
Majestic Gardens Condominium 
4045 Northwest 16th Street, Building C 
Lauderhill, Florida  33313 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this recommended order.  Any exceptions 
to this recommended order must be filed with the agency that 
will issue the final order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
CELESTE WASHINGTON, ) 
  ) 
 Petitioner, ) 
  ) 
vs.  )   Case No. 03-1718 
  ) 
HARDIN HAMMOCK ESTATES, ) 
  ) 
 Respondent. ) 
_________________________________) 
 
 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 
 

Pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was held in this case 

before Larry J. Sartin, an Administrative Law Judge of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings, on August 13, 2003, in 

Miami, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 
 

For Petitioner: Celeste Washington, pro se 
 11261 Southwest 220th Street 
 Miami, Florida  33710-2914 
 
For Respondent: Martin P. McDonnell, Esquire 
 Rutledge, Ecenia, Purnell & Hoffman, P.A. 
 Post Office Box 551 
 Tallahassee, Florida  32302 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue in this case is whether Respondent, Hardin 

Hammock Estates (hereinafter referred to as "Hardin"), 

discriminated against Petitioner, Ms. Celeste Washington 

(hereinafter referred to as Ms. Washington), on the basis of her 
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race in violation of the Florida Fair Housing Act, Sections 

760.20 through 760.37, Florida Statutes. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about August 29, 2002, Ms. Washington, filed a 

Housing Discrimination Complaint (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Complaint") with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(hereinafter referred to as the "Commission").  The Complaint 

alleged that Hardin and Aimco Management Company, Inc. 

(hereinafter referred to as "Aimco") had refused to rent her an 

apartment because of her race.  After investigation of the 

Complaint, the Commission issued a Determination of No 

Reasonable Cause,1 concluding that "reasonable cause does not 

exist to believe that a discriminatory housing practice has 

occurred" and dismissing the Complaint. 

On or about May 5, 2003, Ms. Washington filed a Petition 

for Relief with the Commission (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Petition").  Ms. Washington alleged in the Petition that Hardin2 

had violated the Florida Fair Housing Act, Sections 760.20 

through 760.37, Florida Statutes. 

By Transmittal of Petition, the Commission referred 

Ms. Washington's Petition to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings on May 12, 2003.  The matter was designated DOAH Case 

No. 03-1718 and initially assigned to Administrative Law Judge 
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Robert Meale.  The case was reassigned to the undersigned to 

conduct the final hearing. 

At the final hearing, Ms. Washington testified on her own 

behalf.  She offered no exhibits.  Hardin presented the 

testimony of Salah Youssif.  Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 7 

were offered and received in evidence. 

By Notice of Filing of Transcript issued September 3, 2003, 

the parties were informed that the Transcript of the final 

hearing had been filed on August 29, 2003.  The parties, 

pursuant to agreement, therefore, had until October 13, 2003, to 

file proposed recommended orders.  On October 13, 2003, Hardin 

filed a Proposed Recommended Order.  Ms. Washington did not file 

a post-hearing pleading.  The post-hearing submittal of Hardin 

has been fully considered. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

A.  The Parties. 

1.  Celeste Washington is a black adult. 

2.  Hardin is a housing rental complex with 200 single-

family residences.  Hardin is located in Miami-Dade County, 

Florida.  Hardin provides "affordable housing" to lower-income 

individuals and, therefore, its residents are required to meet 

certain income requirements in order to be eligible for a 

residence at Hardin. 
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3.  At the times material to this proceeding, Hardin was 

managed by Reliance Management Incorporated (hereinafter 

referred to as "Reliance"). 

4.  At the times material to this proceeding, Salah 

Youssif, an employee of Reliance, acted as the property manager 

at Hardin.  Mr. Youssif is himself black, having been born in 

Sudan. 

B.  Ms. Washington's Charge. 

5.  On or about August 29, 2002, Ms. Washington filed a 

Complaint with the Commission.  After investigation of the 

Complaint, the Commission issued a Determination of No 

Reasonable Cause, concluding that "reasonable cause does not 

exist to believe that a discriminatory housing practice has 

occurred" and dismissing the Complaint. 

6.  On or about May 5, 2003, Ms. Washington filed a 

Petition with the Commission.  Ms. Washington alleged in the 

Petition that Hardin had violated the Florida Fair Housing Act, 

Sections 760.20 through 760.36, Florida Statutes.  In 

particular, Ms. Washington alleged that Hardin had "violated the 

Florida Fair Housing Act, as amended, in the manner described 

below": 

Washington was told that the waiting list at 
Hardin Hammock Estates was closed. 
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  She visited this development twice and was 
told the waiting [sic] was close [sic].  At 
that time she viewed the wating [sic] list 
and the majority of the names are [sic] 
Hispanic.  Islanders do not consider 
themselves as Black Americans. 
 

7.  The "ultimate facts alleged & entitlement to relief" 

asserted in the Petition are as follows: 

Hardin Hammocks has willful [sic] and 
[knowingly] practice [sic] discrimination in 
there [sic] selection practice and a strong 
possibility that the same incomes for Blacks 
& others [sic].  Black Americans rent is 
[sic] higher than others living in these 
[sic] developments. 
 

8.  At hearing, Ms. Washington testified that Hardin had 

discriminated against her when an unidentified person refused to 

give her an application and that she believes the refusal was 

based upon her race. 

C.  Management of Hardin; General Anti-Discrimination 

Policies. 

9.  The residence selection policy established by Reliance 

specifically precludes discrimination based upon race.  A human 

resource manual which describes the policy has been adopted by 

Reliance and all employees of Reliance working at Hardin have 

attended a workshop conducted by Reliances' human resource 

manager at which the anti-discrimination policy was addressed. 

10.  An explanation of the Federal Fair Housing Law of the 

United States Department of Housing and Urban Development is 
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prominently displayed in the public area of Hardin's offices in 

both English and Spanish. 

11.  As of July 1, 2002, approximately 52 of Hardin's 200 

units were rented to African-American families. 

D.  Hardin's Application Policy. 

12.  When Mr. Youssif became the property manager at 

Hardin, there were no vacancies and he found a disorganized, 

outdated waiting list of questionable accuracy.  Mr. Youssif 

undertook the task of updating the list and organizing it.  He 

determined that there were approximately 70 to 80 individuals or 

families waiting for vacancies at Hardin. 

13.  Due to the rate of families moving out of Hardin, 

approximately one to two families a month, Mr. Youssif realized 

that if he maintained a waiting list of 50 individuals it would 

still take approximately two years for a residence to become 

available for all 50 individuals on the list.  Mr. Youssif also 

realized that, over a two-year or longer period, the individuals 

on a waiting list of 50 or more individuals could change 

drastically: their incomes could change; they could find other 

affordable housing before a residence became available at 

Hardin; or they could move out of the area.  Mr. Youssif decided 

that it would be best for Hardin and for individuals interested 

in finding affordable housing that Hardin would maintain a 

waiting list of only 50 individuals and that applications would 
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not be given to any person, regardless of their race, while 

there were 50 individuals on the waiting list. 

14.  Mr. Youssif instituted the new waiting list policy and 

applied it regardless of the race of an applicant.  If there 

were less than 50 names on the waiting list, applications were 

accepted regardless of an individual's race; and if there were 

50 or more names on the waiting list, no application was 

accepted regardless of an individual's race. 

E.  Lack of Evidence of Discrimination. 

15.  The only evidence Ms. Washington presented concerning 

her allegations of discriminatory treatment is that she is 

black. 

16.  Although Ms. Washington was refused an application for 

housing at Hardin,3 the evidence failed to prove that 

Ms. Washington's race played any part in the decision not to 

give her an application. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

A.  Jurisdiction. 

17.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and of 

the parties thereto pursuant to Sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), 

Florida Statutes (2003). 
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B.  Florida's Fair Housing Act. 

18.  Florida's Fair Housing Act (hereinafter referred to as 

the "Act") is codified in Sections 760.20 through 760.37 of the 

Act.  Among other things, the Act makes certain acts 

"discriminatory housing practices" and gives the Commission the 

authority, if it finds (following an administrative hearing 

conducted by an Administrative Law Judge) that such a 

"discriminatory housing practice" has occurred, to issue an 

order "prohibiting the practice" and providing "affirmative 

relief from the effects of the practice, including quantifiable 

damages and reasonable attorney's fees and costs."  

§ 760.35(3)(b), Fla. Stat. 

19.  In order for an individual to obtain the relief 

authorized by Section 760.35(3)(b) of the Act from the 

Commission, a person who claims to have been injured by a 

"discriminatory housing practice" must "file a complaint within 

1 year after the alleged discriminatory housing practice 

occurred."  Section 760.34(2) of the Act, however, "an otherwise 

time-barred claim may be considered timely if it and a timely-

filed claim are treated as a single claim directed at continuing 

discriminatory conduct, part of which occurred within the 

statutory filing period."  LeBlanc v. City of Tallahassee, 2003 

WL 1485063 (N.D. Fla. 2003). 
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20.  Section 760.22 of the Act defines "discriminatory 

housing practices" as "an act that is unlawful under the terms 

of ss. 760.20-760.37." 

21.  In determining whether a prohibited "discriminatory 

housing practice" has taken place in this matter, it must first 

be understood that Ms. Washington has not alleged that Hardin 

refused to rent to her on the basis of her race.  Rather, she 

alleged that Hardin refused to give her an application based 

upon her race.  Consequently, it is Section 760.23(2) of the Act 

which must be considered.  Section 760.23(2) of the Act provides 

as follows: 

  It is unlawful to discriminate against any 
person in the terms, conditions, or 
privileges or sale or rental of a dwelling, 
or in the provision of services or 
facilities in connection therewith, because 
of race, color, national origin, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or religion. 

 
22.  Section 760.22 of the Act defines various terms 

pertinent to Section 760.23(2) of the Act: 

  . . . . 
 
  (4) "Dwelling" means any building or 
structure, or portion thereof, which is 
occupied as, or designed or intended for 
occupancy as, a residence by one or more 
families, and any vacant land which is 
offered for sale or lease for the 
construction or location on the land of any 
such building or structure, or portion 
thereof.  
 
  . . . . 
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  (8)  "Person" includes one or more 
individuals, corporations, partnerships, 
associations, labor organizations, legal 
representatives, mutual companies, joint-
stock companies, trusts, unincorporated 
organizations, trustees, trustees in 
bankruptcy, receivers, and fiduciaries.  
 
  . . . . 
 

23.  The Hardin properties constitute a dwelling, and 

Ms. Washington is a person under the Act.  The evidence failed 

to prove, however, that Hardin committed any act against 

Ms. Washington or refused to do something for Ms. Washington 

based upon her race. 

C.  The Burden and Method of Proof. 

24.  Section 760.34(5) of the Act provides that the burden 

of proof in an action alleging a discriminatory housing practice 

filed with the Commission is on the complainant.  Therefore, 

Ms. Washington had the burden of proving the allegations in the 

Petition.  Ms. Washington failed to meet her burden. 

25.  In cases involving a claim of rental housing 

discrimination on the basis of race, such as this one, the 

complainant has the burden of proving a prima facie case of 

discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence.  In order to 

make a prima facie showing of rental housing discrimination a 

complainant is required to first prove that he or she requested 

a rental application to rent a unit for which he or she was 
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qualified, that the request for an application was rejected, 

and, at the time of such rejection, the complainant was a member 

of a class protected by the Act.  See Soules v. U.S. Dept. of 

Housing and Urban Development, 967 F.2d 817, 822 (2d Cir. 1992).  

Failure to establish a prima facie case of discrimination ends 

the inquiry.  See Ratliff v. State, 666 So. 2d 1008, 1012 n.6 

(Fla. 1st DCA), aff’d, 679 So. 2d 1183 (1996)(citing Arnold v. 

Burger Queen Systems, 509 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987)).   

26.  If a complainant sufficiently establishes a prima 

facie case, the burden then shifts to the respondent to 

articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its 

action.  If the respondent satisfies this burden, then the 

complainant must establish by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the reason asserted by the respondent is, in fact, merely a 

pretext for discrimination.  See Massaro v. Mainlands Section 1 

& 2 Civic Ass’n, Inc., 3 F.3d 1472, 1476 n.6 (11th Cir. 1993), 

cert. denied, 513 U.S. 808, 115 S. Ct. 56, 130 L.Ed.2d 15 

(1994)(“Fair housing discrimination cases are subject to the 

three-part test articulated in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 

411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973).”); 

Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, on 

Behalf of Herron v. Blackwell, 908 F.2d 864, 870 (11th Cir. 

1990)(“We agree with the ALJ that the three-part burden of proof 

test developed in McDonnell Douglas [for claims brought under 
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Title VII of the Civil Rights Act] governs in this case 

[involving a claim of discrimination in violation of the federal 

Fair Housing Act].”). 

D.  Lack of Proof of Discrimination. 

27.  A claimant may meet his or her burden of proof by 

direct evidence of intentional discrimination.  McDonnell 

Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).  "Discriminatory 

intent may be established through direct or indirect 

circumstantial evidence."  Johnson v. Hamrick, 155 F.Supp.2d 

1355, 1377 (N.D. Ga. 2001). 

28.  "Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would 

prove the existence of discriminatory intent without resort to 

inference or presumption."  King v. La Playa-De Varadero 

Restaurant, No. 02-2502, 2003 WL 435084 (Fla. DOAH 

2003)(Recommended Order). 

29.  The proof offered by Ms. Washington in this case 

amounted to no more than conjecture.  Proof that, in essence, 

amounts to no more than mere speculation and self-serving belief 

on the part of the complainant concerning the motives of the 

respondent is insufficient, standing alone, to establish a prima 

facie case of intentional discrimination.  See Lizardo v. 

Denny's, Inc., 270 F.3d 94, 104 (2d Cir. 2001).  Ms. Washington, 

therefore, failed to offer a prima facie case of intentional 

discrimination. 
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30.  The foregoing conclusion does not, however, end the 

inquiry, for the Act prohibits, not only practices that are 

intended to be discriminatory, but also those that have a 

discriminatory effect.  Cf. Jackson v. Okaloosa County, Fla., 21 

F.3d 1531, 1543 (11th Cir. 1994), quoting from United States v. 

Mitchell, 580 F.2d 789, 791 (5th Cir. 1978). 

31.  "[D]iscriminatory effect is generally shown by 

statistical evidence[.]  [A]ny statistical analysis must involve 

the appropriate comparables."  Mountain Side Mobile Estates 

Partnership v. Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, 56 

F.3d 1243, 1253 (10th Cir. 1995). 

32.  Ms. Washington offered absolutely no statistical or 

other evidence that would support a finding that Hardin's 

practices have a discriminatory effect.  She has, therefore, 

failed to present a prima facie case of discriminatory effect. 

33.  Had Ms. Washington presented a prima facie case of 

discrimination in this case, the evidence presented by Hardin 

established a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its 

actions in this matter and Ms. Washington failed to prove that 

those non-discriminatory reasons for its actions were mere 

pretext. 

E.  Attorney's Fees. 

34.  Hardin has requested in its Proposed Recommended Order 

an award of attorney's fees pursuant to Section 57.105, Florida 
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Statutes.  Such an award may be made upon the "court's 

initiative or motion of any party . . . ."  This forum is not 

inclined to award fees on its own initiative and no motion for 

an award of fees, which would give Ms. Washington an opportunity 

to respond, has been made.  No award will, therefore, be made in 

this Recommended Order. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that a final order be entered by the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations dismissing Celeste 

Washington's Petition for Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 20th day of November, 2003, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S 
___________________________________ 

     LARRY J. SARTIN 
     Administrative Law Judge 
     Division of Administrative Hearings 
     The DeSoto Building 
     1230 Apalachee Parkway 
     Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
     (850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
     Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
     www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
     Filed with the Clerk of the 
     Division of Administrative Hearings 
     this 20th day of November, 2003. 
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ENDNOTES
 
1/  The Determination of No Reasonable Cause was signed by the 
Executive Director of the Commission on March 18, 2003, but not 
filed with the Clerk of the Commission until April 14, 2003. 
 
2/  Aimco was not named in the Petition and, therefore, is not a 
party to this proceeding. 
 
3/  When Ms. Hardin requested an application was not proved.  
Ms. Washington testified that she went to Hardin in October of 
2002; she also testified that she went to Hardin in July of 
2002.  Page 25 and 26 of the Transcript.  During her examination 
of Mr. Youssif, she suggested that she had been at Hardin August 
2nd, presumably 2002.  Page 48 of the Transcript. 
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Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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